IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL GENE RAY

FILED

APPELLANT

V.

AUG - 4 2008

NO. 2008-KA-0401-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Justin T. Cook, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Michael Gene Ray

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL GENE RAY

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-0401-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT OVERRULED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JNOV BECAUSE THE ACTIONS OF THE APPELLANT WERE CLEARLY IN LINE WITH MISSISSIPPI STATUTORY LAW ALLOWING FOR EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN CASES OF SELF-DEFENSE.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT OVERRULED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE POINTED TOWARDS EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN SELF-DEFENSE AND NOT MURDER.

ISSUE THREE:

IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT APPELLANT HIS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUNDS THAT OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE POINTED TOWARDS MANSLAUGHTER RATHER THAN MURDER.

ISSUE FOUR:

IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A JNOV BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE

WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A VERDICT OF MURDER, AND INSTEAD, SUPPORT A VERDICT OF MANSLAUGHTER.

ISSUE FIVE:

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR A VIOLATION OF HIS STATUTORY RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

ISSUE SIX:

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR A VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

ISSUE SEVEN:

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONALLY MANDATED RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Michael Gene Ray, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds form the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, a judgment of conviction on one count of Murder against Michael Gene Ray, following a trial on February 21-22, 2008, honorable Lee J. Howard, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mr. Ray was subsequently sentenced to life imprisonment in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

This case deals with a typical "juke joint" brawl that took a turn for the worse. On June

17, 2005, Danny Hudson (Hudson) was drinking at the Slab House, a bar in Lowndes County, Mississippi. (T. 53). Hudson was drinking liquor (T. 103). Hudson was described in testimony as being "pretty drunk" and "really bad drunk." (T. 88).

Early in the evening, Hudson was having an argument with his girlfriend, Sheila Ray, the Appellant's sister. (T. 81). Hudson and Sheila Ray were seen in front of the bar, cursing at each other. (T. 87). Hudson held onto her shirt and was pulling it trying to prevent her from returning inside the bar. (T. 87). There was other testimony that Hudson was holding Sheila Ray by the arm and was pulling her, not allowing her to enter the bar. (T. 175). According to Sheila Ray, the argument was precipitated by Hudson coming across the street to her home and kicking the door open. (T. 185). Sheila Ray testified she then left to go to the bar when the incident occurred. (T. 185). Sheila Ray testified that she was scared of Hudson, especially when he drank liquor. (T. 192).

Hudson eventually came back into the bar and, according to testimony, "made a comment that if anybody had anything to say, that they could say it." (T. 88). There, he asked the Doris Ray, Sheila's mother, where she was, and Doris Ray informed him that she was at their home across the street and that Hudson should not go over there. (T. 176).

During that time, Sheila had returned home and had talked with her brother, Michael Gene Ray, the Appellant. (T. 186). Later, in the parking lot, the Appellant got into an altercation with Hudson. (T. 82). The owner of the Slab House, James Wright (Wright) testified that it was just a "basic fight" and that it was broken up quickly. (T. 96). The Appellant also had a piece of conduit pipe in his hand during the fight. (T. 97). Wright would later testify that it was a small piece of pipe. (T. 101). The Appellant admitted bringing the pipe to the bar in order to intimidate Hudson. (T. 218). During the fight, Hudson was on top of the Appellant, threatening

to cut him. (T. 92). According to the Appellant's testimony, he was tackled first by Hudson. (T. 217).

After the fight was broken up, both men were asked to leave. (T. 97). The Appellant subsequently left, returning to his home, across the street, where he lived with his Mother, Sheila Ray, and Alicia Ray, Hudson and Sheila Ray's daughter (T. 97, T. 154). Doris Ray testified that Hudson said, "I'm going to kill that SOB," in reference to the Appellant. Others testified that Hudson was "mad" and mumbled something unintelligible before driving away from the parking lot. (T. 97).

The Appellant testified that he saw Hudson drive off, slinging gravel, and turn turn around and come back to the parking lot twice. (T. 218).

According to Alicia Ray's testimony, she and the Appellant were outside of their home talking about the earlier incident when Hudson walked across the street to come over. (T. 153). Hudson was yelling and demanding to talk to Sheila Ray. (T. 153). Alicia Ray testified that she told him that "he didn't need to because it would start more, and he just needed to go back." (T. 153). The Appellant testified that soon after that, Hudson said, "I'm going to kill the weak son-of-a-bitch." (T. 220).

Hudson refused and continued coming and he and the Appellant proceeded to argue. (T. 153). According to Alicia Ray, in the course of the argument, Hudson grabbed a rock and threw it at the Appellant. (T. 153). Alicia's testimony was corroborated by Sheila Ray's testimony. (T. 186). It was further corroborated by the testimony of Detective Rickard who said that it was clear that two landscaping rocks were moved. (T. 123). Detective Rickard testified he could tell because of the visible dead grass that was under them. (T. 123).

The Appellant testified the first rock that Hudson threw hit him in the head and the

shoulder. (T. 220). This was corroborated by a photograph of the Appellant taken the next day, showing a scratch on the Appellant's head. (Exib. 13). The Appellant testified that after the rock was thrown at him, he swung at Hudson. (T. 227). Hudson then backed up and grabbed another rock. (T. 228). Then, Hudson said, again, that he was going to kill the Appellant. (T. 228).

Sheila Ray testified that Hudson said to the Appellant "you might as well put the knife down because I'm going to kill you when you do." (T. 195). Sheila Ray testified that Hudson "kept coming towards" the Appellant and "next thing I know he was stabbed." (T. 195). The Appellant admitted to stabbing Hudson with a knife that had been sitting on the picnic table in front of the house. (T. 235). According to the testimony of the Appellant, he "had no other choice." (T. 235). Sheila further testified that, prior to the stabbing, the Appellant kept backing up as Hudson came toward him. (T. 195).

Renee Taylor (Taylor) testified that she had run over across the street and saw the stabbing. (T. 245). She testified that the appellant told her to shut up. (T. 245). The Appellant, in his own testimony, never denied telling her to shut up, but maintained that he told her to shut up and leave because he was worried about what Hudson might do. (T. 235-36).

Alicia Ray, ran up to the Slab House screaming that her father had been stabbed. (T. 82). Thresa Sorrells (Sorrells) was standing outside the slab house at the time, and ran across the street to the Appellant's property, where Hudson had apparently gone after their previous altercation. (T. 83). Sorrells went across the street to tend to Hudson.

She testified, "There was no blood coming from the wound, but it was rather large. It was from his belly button all the way to his side. The skin was actually just rolled up, and his large intestine had already started protruding out of the wound. It was coming outside his body." (T. 83-84).

This testimony, however, was significantly discredited by the State's own witness, Dr. Steven Hayne (Dr. Hayne), who testified that the wound was seven-eighths (7/8) of an inch by one-eighth (1/8) of an inch. (138-141). Dr. Hayne further testified that he would not expect to see anything coming through the wound. (T. 141).

The Appellant spent that night at his cousin's house and the next morning, went to the jail and turned himself in, telling the police that he had stabbed Hudson. (T. 229-30). Hudson passed away from his injuries the next day at the hospital. (T. 121). The Appellant has been incarcerated since June 18, 2005.

On August 10, 2005 Michael Ray was indicted for the Murder of Daniel Hudson. (C.P. 03, R.E. 12). On August 18, 2005, he was arraigned. (C.P. 11, R.E. 13). On October 19, 2005, the Circuit Court ordered a mental evaluation for the Appellant. (C.P. 28-31, R.E. 16-20). On March 14, 2006, the Mississippi State Hospital wrote a letter saying they needed certain documents pertaining to the mental evaluation. (C.P. 40, R.E. 21). On March 17, 2006, the circuit court ordered that the Mississippi State hospital conduct a mental evaluation with whatever information was available to them within ninety (90) days of its order. (C.P. 39, R.E. 20). On August 31, 2007, the trial court wrote a letter to the Mississippi State Hospital explaining the need to evaluate the Appellant. (C.P. 54, R.E. 22). On September 6, 2007, the State Hospital responded that it had not received the order concerning the mental evaluation. (C.P. 57, R.E. 24). On September 24, 2007, the Appellant filed a motion to dismiss charges for failure to provide a fast and speedy trial. (C.P. 58-59, R.E. 25-26). The Appellant also wrote a letter to the circuit clerk curious as to why he was even in need of a psychiatrist. (C.P. 60, R.E. 27). On October 4, 2007, the Circuit Clerk received the results of the Appellant's evaluation, and it was determined that he was competent to stand trial. (C.P. 62-64, R.E. 28-30). On November

9, 2007, the Appellant filed a motion for a speedy trial. (C.P. 65, R.E. 31). On November 19, 2007, the Appellant's trial counsel requested a continuance for the purpose of seeing a friend receive the Medal of Honor from the President. (C.P. 67). Finally, on December 12, 2007 the Appellant filed another Motion for at and Speedy Trial. (C.P. 70, R.E. 32).

On February 21-22, 2008, without any hearing on his speedy trial motions, the Appellant was tried, and, after deliberation, a jury returned a guilty verdict against him. (C.P. 126, R.E.33). The Appellant was sentenced to life in the custody of the Mississippi Department of corrections (C.P. 126, R.E. 33).

On February 25, 2008, the Appellant filed a Motion for JNOV, Alternatively, New Trial. (C.P. 124, R.E.34). The motion was denied by the trial court on February 25, 2008. (C.P. 138, R.E. 35). On March 3, 2008, feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 129, R.E. 36).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it overruled the Appellant's motion for JNOV. The Appellant's conduct was clearly in self-defense, as Hudson entered onto the Appellant's property after threatening, at the very least, to assault the Appellant. Furthermore, the State failed to prove the element of deliberate design.

Secondly, the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports that the Appellant was acting in self-defense when he stabbed Hudson.

In the alternative, the trial court erred when it failed to grant the Appellant's motion for a new trial, because the overwhelming weight of the evidence supported a conviction of manslaughter rather than murder.

In the alternative, the trial court erred when it failed to grant the Appellant's motion for

JNOV, because the State failed to prove the crime of murder, but, instead, manslaughter.

The trial court also erred in failing to properly consider the Appellant's motion to dismiss for violation of his statutory speedy trial right. The Appellant was incarcerated for eight hundred and eighty-five (885) between arraignment and trial, and there was not good cause for the State's failure to bring him to trial.

Furthermore, the Appellant's constitutional speedy trial rights were violated because of oppressive pre-trial incarceration. All factor's in the *Barker v. Wingo* analysis weigh in favor of the Appellant.

Lastly, the Appellant was deprived of his fundamental right to a fair trial by his trial counsel's ineffectiveness.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT OVERRULED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JNOV BECAUSE THE ACTIONS OF THE APPELLANT WERE CLEARLY IN LINE WITH MISSISSIPPI STATUTORY LAW ALLOWING FOR EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN CASES OF SELF-DEFENSE.

i. Standard of Review

The Mississippi Supreme Court has set forth the standard of review for a sufficiency of the evidence claim as follows:

This Court must review the trial court's finding regarding sufficiency of the evidence at the time the motion for JNOV was overruled. See Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803, 807-08 (Miss.1987). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State. All credible evidence supporting the conviction is taken as true; the State receives the benefit of all favorable inferences reasonably drawn from the evidence. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss.1993). Issues regarding weight and credibility of the evidence are for the jury to resolve. Id. Only where the evidence, as to at least one of the elements of the crime charged, is such that a reasonable and fair minded juror could only find the accused not guilty will this Court reverse. Id.

Holloman v. State, 656 So.2d 1134, 1142 (Miss. 1995).

ii. Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the evidence is such that reasonable and fair minded juror could only find the Appellant not guilty.

It has long been a principle at common law that a person has no duty to retreat when faced with force in his home. This theory is perhaps embodied best by Justice Benjamin Cardozo;

"It is not now, and never has been the law that a man assailed in his own dwelling, is bound to retreat. If assailed there, he may stand his ground, and resist the attack. He is under no duty to take to the fields and the highways, a fugitive from his own home."

People v. Tomlins, 107 N.E. 496, 496 (N.Y. 1914).

In Mississippi, a similar premise has been codified. Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-17 provides that a homicide may be excused "[w]hen committed by accident and misfortune in doing any lawful act by lawful means, with usual and ordinary caution, and without unlawful intent." Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-17(a).

Homicide may further be excused;

- "(e)When committed by any person in resisting any attempt unlawfully to kill such person or to commit any felony upon him, or upon or in any dwelling, in any occupied vehicle, in any place of business, in any such place of employment or in the immediate premises thereof in which such person shall be;
- (f) When committed in the lawful defense of one's own person or any other human being, where there shall be reasonable ground to apprehend a design to commit a felony or to do some great personal injury, and there shall be imminent danger of such design being accomplished"

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-1 (e)-(f).

Sub judice, there is no dispute that the Appellant was at his home at the time of the incident. (T. 97). There is no dispute that Hudson got into a verbal and at least somewhat physical altercation with the Appellant's sister. (T. 87, T. 175). There is no dispute that the Appellant and Hudson were involved in a physical altercation at the bar across the street in

which blows were exchanged. (T. 96). It was testified to in the State's case-in-chief that the Appellant and Hudson were both asked to leave and that the Appellant complied and returned to his home. (T. 97). There is no dispute that Hudson came onto the Appellant's property.

There is further testimony, elicited during the State's case-in-chief, that the Appellant's life was threatened by Hudson, or, at the very least, Hudson had threatened to "cut" the Appellant. (T. 92).. The State's own police witness testified as to the obvious fact that rocks had been picked up and moved. (T. 123). Such testimony corroborates the Appellant's position that he was defending himself against an individual who had just minutes beforehand threatened to end his life. (T. 235).

It is more than reasonable that the Appellant would be in fear of imminent harm when Hudson, with whom he had previously fought with, who had kicked him while he was down, and who had threatened to "cut" him, followed the Appellant to his house and began to argue and yell at him. Hudson was undoubtedly extremely close to the Appellant as the Appellant was in close enough proximity to stab him. Hudson had physically assaulted the Appellant, threatened, at the very least, to commit the crime of aggravated assault against him, and was at arm's length. The Appellant respectfully contends that the facts lend themselves to the unquestionable conclusion that he acted in self-defense.

Furthermore, It cannot be concluded that the state presented any evidence of the element of deliberate design. In *Tran*, the Mississippi Supreme Court defined "deliberate design," saying; "Deliberate design means intent to kill without authority of law and not being legally justifiable, legally excusable or under circumstances that would reduce the act to a less crime [than murder]." *Tran v. State*, 681 So. 2d 514, 516. (Miss. 1996).

The State failed to present any evidence that the Appellant's actions were not legally

excusable. It is more than telling that, in the instant case, Hudson was merely stabbed once. The nature of what caused the death also lends itself to self-defense. In order to stab someone, the two parties must be in close proximity to one another. This is further corroboration that the Appellant was acting in self-defense.

In *Gray v. State*, the victim threatened the Appellant, saying "I am going to kill you." *Gray v. State*, 130 So. 150, 150 (Miss. 1930). The Court found this to be a "vile epithet" and determined that the testimony of self-defense was corroborated, "in many respects" by the State's witnesses. *Id.* The Court concluded, "taking as true all the facts which the state's evidence tended to prove, we are of the opinion that they are not inconsistent with the appellant's innocence." *Id.* at 150-51.

The facts in the case *sub judice*, just as in *Gray*, involve a threat being made at the Appellant by the person who ultimately lost their life. Just as in *Gray*, the Appellant's story is significantly corroborated by the State's witnesses. Hudson was overheard threatening to "cut" the Appellant. (T. 92). Rocks used by Hudson when he entered onto the Appellant's property in order to confront him were noticed by the State's own witness, Detective Rickard. (T. 123). The facts presented by the state are not inconsistent with the Appellant's innocense.

iii. Conclusion

Because the State was unable to prove that the Appellant's actions were not in self defense and the element of deliberate design, the Appellant respectfully submits that the Court should reverse and render the Appellant's murder conviction based on this insufficiency of the evidence.

ISSUE TWO: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT OVERRULED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE POINTED TOWARDS EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN

SELF-DEFENSE AND NOT MURDER.

i. Standard of Review

A motion for a new trial challenges the weight of the evidence; reversal is only warranted if the lower court abused its discretion in denying a motion for a new trial. *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So. 2d 731, 737 (Miss. 2005). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997).

A jury verdict will only be disturbed on appeal in exceedingly rare cases. *Thomas v.*State, 92 So. 225, 226 (Miss. 1922). Despite the standard of review being so high, "this Court has not hesitated to invoke its authority to order a new trial and allow a second jury to pass on the evidence where it considers the first jury's determination of guilt to be based on extremely weak or tenuous evidence, even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict." *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So. 2d 731, 737 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Lambert v. State*, 462 So. 2d 308, 322 (Miss. 1984).

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