IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL GENE RAY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0401

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the state contends the verdict is based on legally sufficient proof and is not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The state presented ample proof that Ray was guilty of murder. Ray's evidence to the contrary simply created issues of fact properly resolved by the jury.

Next, the state asserts that Ray's speedy trial issues are not properly before this Court.

His failure to pursue his motions for a hearing and to obtain rulings thereon leave this Court with nothing to review with respect to these questions.

Finally, the state submits Ray cannot establish on this record that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance. While he alleges unprofessional lapses, he cannot show that his counsel's performance was so deplorable as to have required the trial court to declare a mistrial *sua sponte*.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE VERDICT IS BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Ray's Issues One, Two, Three and Four present an attack on the sufficiency and weight of the evidence undergirding his conviction of murder. The state addresses those issues within this single proposition.

To prevail on the assertion that he is entitled to a judgment of acquittal, Ray must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might

have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. Noe v. State, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." Williams v. State, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss.App.1999).

See also *Jackson v. State*, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state "is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence"), and *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be disregarded). 'Accord, *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/ jury"). "When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from the evidence." *Dumas v. State*, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss.2000).

This rigorous standard applies to the claim that Ray is entitled to a new trial:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the

circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Dudley, 719 So.2d at 182. "This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." Langston v. State, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶14) (Miss.Ct.App.2001).

Smith v. State, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss.App.2004),

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As the Supreme Court reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury." [citations omitted]

Ray contends that the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports a finding that he acted in self-defense and, alternatively, that the proof supports at best a finding that he was guilty of manslaughter rather than murder. The state counters that the jury was he "ultimate judge" of whether question whether this killing was murder, manslaughter, or committed in self-defense. Webster v. State, 817 So.2d 515, 518-19 (Miss.2002). The jury was instructed on all three options (C.P.104-110) and, as the prosecutor pointed out during closing argument, resolution of the issue boiled down to a determination of credibility of the witnesses. (T.267-72) We incorporate that argument by reference, as well as evidence summarized in our Statement of

Substantive Facts, in asserting that the testimony of Renee Taylor amply supported a finding that Ray committed murder as defined by Instruction S-2A..¹ (C.P.104) Ms. Taylor testified consistently and unequivocally that while Ray and Hudson each was standing his ground, Hudson had nothing in his hands and was not advancing on Ray at the critical moment; that Ray raised the knife, a deadly weapon; that he "held it up for her to see," looked at her and told her to be quiet; and that he then turned and stabbed Hudson in the abdomen. Immediately afterward, he fled the scene. (See T.269)

The evidence was not such that a reasonable juror could have returned no verdict other than not guilty, or guilty of manslaughter. To the contrary, the proof amply sustains the jury's determination that this killing was not manslaughter, that it was not justified by necessary self-defense, but that it was in fact murder. See Jordan v. State, $\frac{995}{2}$ So.2d $\frac{94}{2}$, 2008 WL 4427202 (Miss., decided October 2, 2008); Chandler v. State, 967 So.2d 47, 50 (Miss.App.2006). Ray's evidence to the contrary simply created an issue of fact which was properly resolved by the jury. No basis exists for disturbing its verdict.

¹That instruction authorized the jury to return a verdict of guilty of murder if it found beyond a reasonable doubt that Ray killed Hudson "without authority of law and not in necessary self-defense" either with the deliberate design to effect Hudson's death, or "[w]hile engaged in an act eminently dangerous to others, and evincing a depraved heart, disregarding the value of human life, ... whether or not he had any intention of actually killing Daniel Hudson."

PROPOSITION TWO:

RAY'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS TRIED IN VIOLATION OF HIS STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO SPEEDY TRIAL ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT

Ray contends additionally that he was tried in violation of his constitutional and statutory rights to speedy trial. At the outset, the state submits the indictment was returned on August 10, 2005. (C.P.3) Ray was arraigned the following August 18. (C.P.1) On August 19, 2005, the Ray moved a mental examination to determine his competency to stand trial. (C.P.27) That motion was granted, and the court entered an agreed order of continuance so that this examination could be performed. (C.P.1, 28-30) Several orders of continuance were entered between December 12, 2005, and October 4, 2007, when Mississippi State Hospital returned its finding that the defendant was competent to stand trial. (C.P.1-2, 62-64)

Ray did not assert his right to speedy trial until November 9, 2007.² (C.P.65) By an order filed November 19, 2007, the court continued the case on the motion of defense counsel. The case was set for February 19, 2008. (C.P.67) Ray was brought to trial on February 21, 2008.

With respect to this issue, Ray never brought his motions on for a hearing. His failure to do so leaves this Court with no findings or orders to review. Accordingly, the following language demonstrates the lack of merit in Ray's claims:

As pointed out by the State, although Kolberg filed a motion to dismiss or prevent the second trial asserting speedy trial

²On September 24, 2007, Ray filed a *pro se* motion to dismiss this case for failure to provide a speedy trial, but this did not constitute an effective assertion of the right. *Stark v. State*, 911 So.2d 447, 452 (Miss.2005).

violations, there were no hearings or orders on these motions. Thus, Kolberg is not appealing to us from an erroneous decision of the trial judge. In *Rushing v. State*, 711 So.2d 450, 456 (Miss.1998), we stated: "It is the responsibility of the movant to obtain a ruling from the court on motions filed by him and a failure to do so constitutes a waiver of the same." (citations omitted). Accordingly, this assignment of error is without merit.

Kohlberg v. State, 829 So.2d 29, 88 (Miss.2002).

Here, as well, Ray is not appealing an allegedly erroneous decision of the trial court. To the contrary, Ray's failure to obtain a hearing and ruling leaves this Court with nothing to review. Ray's fifth and sixth propositions should be rejected.

Solely in the alternative, the state submits for the sake of argument that the record shows the overwhelming bulk of the delay was occasioned by the orders of continuances entered upon the necessity of obtaining a mental evaluation which the defense had requested. See Elder v. State, 750 So.2d 544 (Miss. App. 1999). The defendant did not move to dismiss the charge until September 24, 2007, some 25 months after arraignment.³ See *Guice v. State*, 952 So.2d 129 (Miss.2007). He did not demand a speedy trial until November 9, 2007, and even then, he filed a motion for continuance ten days later. Ultimately, he was tried within five months, some 150 days, of his motion to dismiss; the period is considerably shorter when one factors in the November 9, 2007, motion for continuance. The trial court simply cannot be put in error on this point in light of this record. See *Riley v. State*, 855 So.2d 1004, 1008 (Miss.App.2003); *Wesley v. State*, 872 So.2d 763, 767-68 (Miss.App.2004).

In light of *Kohlberg*, Ray's fifth and sixth propositions should be considered waived and should be rejected summarily.

PROPOSITION THREE:

RAY HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

Ray finally contends that his trial counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance.

To prevail, he must satisfy the following standard:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining. whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. . . . *Rankin v. State*, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss.1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

The Strickland test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. . . . The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, exists. . . . The defendant must show that but for his attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court. . . .

Viewed from the totality of the circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal has two components to comply with *Strickland*. First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel"

guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss.App.1999).

Because this point is raised for the first time on direct appeal, Ray encounters an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of iustice. Parham v. State, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss. 1969). To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries. Malone v. State, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss.1986). Read [v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under Parham, to declare a mistrial or order a new trial sua sponte.

(emphasis added) Colenburg, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, Madison v. State, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss.App.2006); Jenkins v. State, 912 So.2d 165, 173 (Miss.App.2005); Walker v. State, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss.App.2002); Estes v. State, 782 So.2d 1244, 1248-49 (Miss.App.2000).

Ray has not shown that his trial counsel's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. Because he has not sustained the particular burden

he faces when raising this issue on direct appeal, the state submits his final proposition should be denied without prejudice to its being advanced in a motion for post-conviction collateral relief.

In the alternative, for the sake of argument, the state submits that even if the alleged lapses were deemed unprofessional, Ray cannot establish *Strickland* prejudice on the basis of this record. There is no showing that the delay from November 2007 to February 2008, the result of defendant's last motion for continuance, had any effect on the outcome of the trial.

Moreover, we dispute the conclusion that defense counsel was conceding the defendant's guilt when he stated during opening statements, "It happened." (T.48) Defense counsel went on to give a preview the proof in the light most favorable to the defense and to conclude, "the evidence will show that it was self-defense." (T.48-49) The state submits that under these circumstances, Ray has not shown that this comment constituted an unprofessional error.

Finally, the state contests the assertion that defense counsel was vouching for Dr. Hayne when he referred to him as a "brilliant medical technologist or expert" and asked him to "put this in language that Mama can understand." (T.140) Nothing suggests that these comments were anything other than strategic.

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